European Forest Institute 2022



Active restoration practices for biodiversity conservation in managed forests A REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE WITH A EUROPEAN FOCUS





Table of contents

1.	Introduction	4
2.	Creation of deadwood	. 5
2	2.1. Rationale	. 5
	What diameters to aim for	. 6
	Lying or standing deadwood?	. 6
	Location of deadwood in the forest	. 6
	How much deadwood is enough?	7
	Summary	. 7
3.	Active restoration practices to create deadwood	8
	3.1. Girdling	. 8
	Description and information	8
	Recommended forest and tree type:	. 9
	Species that benefit	. 9
	Tips for effectiveness	. 9
	3.2. Creation of high stumps	. 9
	Description and information	. 9
	Recommended forest and tree type	10
	Species that benefit	10
	Tips for effectiveness	10
	3.3. Topping trees	11
	Description and information	11
	Recommended forest and tree type	11
	Species that benefit	11
	Tips for effectiveness	11
3	8.4. Fungal inoculation	11
	Description and information	11
	Recommended forest and tree type	12



		Spec	ies that benefit	
		Tips	for effectiveness	13
	3.	5.	Artificial tree uprooting	13
		Desc	ription and information	13
		Reco	mmended forest and tree type	13
		Spec	ies that benefit	13
		Tips	for effectiveness	14
4.		Acti	ive restoration to create cavities	15
	4.	1.	Rationale	15
	4.	2.	Pollarding	16
		Desc	ription and information	16
		Reco	mmended forest and tree type	16
		Spec	ies that benefit	16
		Tips	for effectiveness	16
	4.	3.	Mechanically carved hollows	17
		Desc	ription and information	17
		Reco	mmended forest and tree type	
		Spec	ies that benefit	
		Tips	for effectiveness	
	4.	4.	Basal slits	19
		Desc	ription and information	19
		Reco	mmended forest and tree type	19
		Spec	ies that benefit	20
		Tips	for effectiveness	20
5.		Ref	erences	



Reference

O'Brien, L., Schuck, A., (2022). Active restoration practices for biodiversity conservation in managed forests. A review of the literature with a European focus. Integrate Network Report. European Forest Institute. 26 p.

Cover photo: Andreas Rigling

The project FoReSite ('Managing Forests for Resilience and Biodiversity – Bridging Policy, Practice, Science and Education') is funded by the German Federal Ministry of Food and Agriculture (BMEL). It ran from 05/2020 to 07/2022 and strongly supported the activities of the Integrate Network, which promotes the integration of nature conservation into sustainable forest management at the policy, practice and research levels.

https://integratenetwork.org/

http://iplus.efi.int/

Disclaimer: The present report is one output of the FoReSite project ('Managing Forests for Resilience and Biodiversity – Bridging Policy, Practice, Science and Education') supported by the German Federal Ministry of Food and Agriculture (BMEL). The views expressed in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of the European Forest Institute.







1. Introduction

Forests cover over 40% of Europe's land area, harbour the vast majority of Europe's terrestrial biodiversity, and provide many other ecosystem services (European Commission, 2021). The evidence that biodiversity is key for ecosystem health, functioning, and stability is well understood and growing (EEA, 2016; Muys et al., 2022). Biodiversity is also critical for forest resilience and adaptation to climate change (Thompson, 2009). However, forests and biodiversity are threatened by a wide range of factors including habitat loss and degradation, invasive species, and climate change (EEA, 2016).

European forests have a long history of human impact and as a result there are very few forests remaining that have been unmodified by humans (Sabatini et al., 2018). The majority of forests in Europe have a history of often intensive forest management towards wood production and today over 75% of forests are available for wood production (FOREST EUROPE, 2020). Sustainable forest management that aims to manage forests for multiple functions is therefore vital for increasing forest resilience and adaptation to climate change (European Commission, 2021). In addition, in order to safeguard forests and forest biodiversity in Europe, it will be necessary to invest in forest protection and restoration (European Commission, 2020).

Within the framework of sustainable forest management, integrative forest management aims to balance the provision of multiple forest ecosystem services from a managed forest at different spatial scales (Kraus and Krumm, 2013; Krumm et al., 2020). In continuous cover forestry, forest management practices are mainly focused on retention of deadwood and high conservation value habitat trees (Gustafsson et al., 2020), as they are associated with high levels of biodiversity, including saproxylic species (Brainerd et al., 1995; Ranius and Nilsson, 1997; Grove, 2002; Kosiński, 2006).

Despite efforts, these structures are often lower in managed forests compared to unmanaged forests, contributing to lower biodiversity (Paillet et al., 2010). In managed forests, trees are often harvested much before microhabitats and other forms of tree senescence begin (Kraus and Krumm, 2013). Therefore, the active creation of deadwood and microhabitats may represent an additional approach to restore forests and related biodiversity in managed forest stands (Sebek et al., 2013; Doerfler et al., 2020). Moreover, the importance of forest restoration has found increased attention and is reflected in the EU Biodiversity Strategy (European Commission, 2020) and the new EU Forest Strategy for 2030 (European Commission, 2021).



This document aims to review and summarise the scientific evidence of the importance of deadwood and habitat trees for biodiversity as well as different methods to actively create different types of deadwood and tree cavities. The literature draws from many different sources, including from North America and Europe, but is intended to guide such practices in Europe. For each method, the document also provides advice on suitable forest types and trees for each method, as well as information on which species can benefit from the practice. This information may then be used as a reference guide for forest practitioners interested in such practices and support the elaboration of practical guidelines for their implementation (e.g., see Adelmann et al., 2021). While there are various other active restoration measures at the stand and landscape level for biodiversity conservation, this document focuses on tree-level measures only. The report also does not claim to have addressed all tree-level measures and may add such in the course of a future revision.

2. Creation of deadwood

2.1. Rationale

An estimated 20-25% of forest species are dependent on deadwood for all or part of their lifecycle (Grove, 2002; Stokland et al., 2012). Therefore, in forest ecosystems, biodiversity is largely dependent on the quantity and quality of deadwood (Siitonen, 2001; Brin et al., 2013). Among these species, which are also known as saproxylic species, beetles (*Coleoptera*) and fungi make up the two largest taxa, are largely responsible for wood decay, and contribute to nutrient cycling and ecosystem functioning (Lassauce et al., 2011). In addition to providing habitat for a wide variety of species, deadwood plays several significant roles in the forest ecosystem including carbon storage, nutrient cycling, and creation of forest soil (Siitonen, 2001; Lachat et al., 2013; Vítková et al., 2018).

Within the managed forests of Europe, several factors significantly reduce volumes of deadwood and related saproxylic species. First, longer and more intense management practices contribute to lower quantities of deadwood (Siitonen, 2001; Jonsson and Siitonen 2012). Compared to unmanaged forests, these quantities can be reduced up to 98% (Fridman and Walheim, 2000). Second, even when managed forests match unmanaged forests in terms of deadwood volume, certain types of deadwood such as large diameter pieces, deadwood created by forest fires, and pieces in much later stages of decay are often still lacking in these forests (Kruys et al., 1999; Jonsson and Siitonen, 2012). Third, long histories of management practices in many European forests have halted the continuous supply of deadwood and as a result, communities of saproxylic species remain different from primary and old-growth forests (Grove, 2002). Combined, these aspects result in a loss in the quantity and diversity of saproxylic species in managed forests, leading to many nationally rare and threatened



species across Europe (Grove, 2002). Because many stands in managed forests are too young to produce deadwood, management practices which adopt active creation of deadwood may provide an option to creating habitats for saproxylic species in the near future (Jonsson and Siitonen, 2012).

Here we provide information and outline five methods for the creation of deadwood: (1) girdling, (2) creation of high stumps, (3) topping trees, (4) artificially uprooting trees, and (5) fungal inoculation. Before choosing which methods to implement, some consideration should also be taken regarding tree diameter, tree species, position, microclimate, and quantity of deadwood.

What diameters to aim for

When choosing the size of the tree to actively create deadwood from, all sizes are beneficial. However, special priority should be given to creation of deadwood with a large diameter as it has been shown to be related to increased species richness, incidence, or abundance as well as threatened species (Grove, 2002). Compared to small pieces, large pieces contain many different niches which are filled by different saproxylic species simultaneously, they take longer to decompose which allows them to maintain a stable microhabitat and remain in the environment for longer, and are more stable in their temperature and moisture (Grove, 2002; Lachat et al., 2013; Vítková et al., 2018). For these reasons, large diameter deadwood cannot be replaced by an increase in quantity of small deadwood (Vítková et al., 2018). However, small diameter deadwood should still be created and allowed to accumulate due to their importance for some saproxylic fungi, such as ascomycetes (Nordén et al., 2004).

Lying or standing deadwood?

The position of the deadwood, i.e., whether it is lying or standing, creates different decay rates, moisture levels, and sun-exposure (Bouget et al., 2012). Standing deadwood, particularly snags, tend to have lower decay rates, higher sun-exposure, and a more stable microclimate (Jonsson and Siitonen, 2012). Standing deadwood has been shown to host a higher diversity than lying deadwood, however lying deadwood tends to be more important for fungi and bryophytes (Bouget et al., 2012; Vítková et al., 2018). Therefore, when choosing the position of wood during deadwood creation, a combination of different positions should be prioritised to ensure that habitats are created for a wide variety of species (Bouget et al., 2013).

Location of deadwood in the forest

The location of deadwood, i.e., whether it is in a sun-exposed or shaded area should also be considered for deadwood creation. Sunny, exposed areas which naturally occur after



disturbances such as forest fires and windstorms have been shown to support a greater diversity of saproxylic beetles, including those which are red-listed (Lindhe and Lindelöw, 2004; Djupström et al., 2012). Therefore, during deadwood management, special consideration should be given to create deadwood in forest gaps and open areas (Vítková et al., 2018). On the other hand, shaded areas, which are more moist than exposed areas, are important for fungi and bryophytes (Lachat et al., 2013). Therefore, management practices should seek to provide deadwood in a variety of different locations.



How much deadwood is enough?

The minimum amount of deadwood required to support the majority of saproxylic species depends on the forest type and has been estimated e.g., at 20-30 m³/ha for boreal and coniferous forests, 30-40 m³/ha for mixed montane forests, and 30-50 m³/ha for lowland forests (Müller and Bütler, 2010).

Summary

- 1. Large diameter deadwood should be prioritised during deadwood creation, smaller deadwood pieces, while less important for saproxylic beetle diversity, should also be maintained.
- 2. Combinations of standing and lying deadwood should be created, with a higher prioritisation for standing deadwood.



- 3. Deadwood should be created in both sunny, exposed areas and shaded areas with a higher prioritisation for sunny, exposed areas.
- 4. The amount of deadwood required to sustain saproxylic species diversity varies according to forest type.

3. Active restoration practices to create deadwood

3.1. Girdling

Description and information

Girdling, also known as ring barking, is the severing of the bark, cambium, and occasionally sapwood in a complete ring around the circumference of the trunk or branch of a tree (Kilroy and Windell, 1999). If applied to the trunk, the tree is unable to transport carbohydrates produced during photosynthesis from the roots to the leaves via the phloem and slowly dies from starvation once all carbohydrate reserves have been exhausted, which may take several years (Kilroy and Windell, 1999). Girdling is traditionally used for thinning and killing unwanted trees such as invasive species, but the method is also used to create biodiversity beneficial snags which are naturally produced after storms, forest fires, insect infestations, tree diseases, and other disturbances (Vítková et al., 2018). In areas where these disturbances are absent, creating snags by girdling has shown to create increased nesting and foraging habitats for both cavity nesting birds and saproxylic species (Parks, 1999; Hallet et al., 2001; Vítková et al., 2018). Girdling is typically done at breast height but can also be applied to the crown of the tree, known as *crown girdling* (Lewis, 1998).





Recommended forest and tree type:

Girdling can be applied in areas of a managed forest where wood production is a minor aim or can target trees which are low quality, small diameter, or located in areas which are difficult to access. This helps to ensure that the quality of harvested timber remains high (Vítková et al., 2018). Targeting invasive species is also considered a cost-effective way of creating snags via girdling (Vítková et al., 2018; Parks, 1999).

Species that benefit

Saproxylic species and cavity nesting birds such as woodpeckers (Parks, 1999; Lewis, 1998; Hallet et al., 2001).

Tips for effectiveness

Girdling is typically done with a chainsaw, axe, or handsaw (Kilroy and Windell, 1999, Adelmann et al., 2021). Smaller trees are most efficiently girdled with an axe or handsaw while larger trees can be girdled with a chainsaw (Kilroy and Windell, 1999). Other methods recommend using an axe or professional peeling knife to remove the bark (Adelmann et al., 2021) After the bark is removed, the phloem can then be scrubbed away with a wire brush to ensure that is dries quicker (Adelmann et al., 2021). The method is most easily done in spring and early summer because the bark is easier to remove and the cambium is easier to peel (Kilroy and Windell, 1999). If the goal is to kill the tree quickly, it is recommended to cut slightly deeper into the sapwood, a practice known as *notching* (Kilroy and Windell, 1999). Increasing the number of grooves can also speed up the death of the tree. If the aim is to create a taller snag, one can girdle around the base of the crown, known as *crown girdling*, and any leafing below the girdled ring must be removed to ensure the tree's death (Kilroy and Windell, 1999).

3.2. Creation of high stumps

Description and information

A high stump is a snag around the height of 2-4 meters created by cutting a tree with a chainsaw or harvester. Various studies have concluded that high stumps provide excellent breeding and habitat substrate for saproxylic beetles, provide sunny-exposed areas used by specialist species, and diversify deadwood types in the forest (Jonsell and Weslien, 2003; Lindhe and Lindelöw, 2004; Djupström et al., 2012). The technique has also been shown in a number of studies to increase population sizes of saproxylic beetles, including red-listed and threatened species (Lindhe and Lindelöw 2004; Djupström et al., 2012). Therefore, if one seeks to increase the diversity and population sizes of saproxylic species, creation of high stumps may provide a useful method.



Recommended forest and tree type

Spruce trees are commonly targeted for creation of high stumps. However, it is recommended to not only select a single target species, but instead choose a diversity of different tree species such as spruce, birch, aspen, and pine (Lindhe and Lindelöw, 2004). Aspen and birch in particular have been shown to recruit high numbers of saproxylic beetles in comparison with other species (Jonsell et al., 2004). If the aim is to support red-listed species, trees greater than 34 cm in diameter are suggested for cutting (Djupström et al., 2012).



Species that benefit

Saproxylic species, particularly beetles including red-listed species such as *Peltis grossa* (Djupström et al., 2012).

Tips for effectiveness

It is recommended to create high stumps in sun-exposed logging sites to attract a higher diversity of saproxylic species (Lindhe and Lindelöw, 2004). Colonisation of new high stump patches may occur on its own, but the process may be sped up by creating high stumps on a rotational basis (Jonsell et al., 2004).



3.3. Topping trees

Description and information

Topping is the entire removal of the canopy of a tree. The technique is typically done either using a chainsaw or harvester to sever the trunk below the first whorl of branches or halfway up the tree, or with explosives by drilling and filling several holes in the trunk with explosive material (Lewis, 1998; Bull et al., 1981; Cavalli and Mason, 2003; Jonsell et al., 2004). The main difference between the methods is the appearance of the snag after topping. While a chainsaw or harvester creates a clear cut, explosives create a large area of shattered wood that closely resembles the damage caused my windstorm, lightning strikes, or heavy snowfall (Bull et al., 1981; Lewis, 1998). While in some cases snags created via explosives may more closely resemble natural habitats for cavity nesting species, snags produced from either method has been shown to provide useful, long-term habitats for foraging and nesting birds, particularly cavity nesters such as woodpeckers (Hallet et al., 2001; Bull and Partridge, 1986).

Recommended forest and tree type

Tree-topping can be used in any age-stand but only trees which are alive, healthy, and free from decay should be used, otherwise the explosive will not sheer the top of the tree.

Species that benefit

Cavity nesters such as woodpeckers, owls, and osprey (Bull and Partridge, 1986; Bull et al., 1997).

Tips for effectiveness

Trees topped with a chainsaw or harvester can also be modified to more closely resemble natural damage or appealing nest sites by cutting impressions in the top of the tree for owl species or by leaving a horizontal branch structure at the top of the tree for nesting birds such as osprey (Bull et al., 1997; Lewis, 1998).

3.4. Fungal inoculation

Description and information

Fungal inoculation is the practice of intentionally introducing wood decay fungi into a live, healthy tree to stimulate wood-decay processes that closely resemble natural heart rot decay. The technique is an inexpensive and efficient recovery tool for cavity dwelling wildlife and saproxylic species in forests with a lack of stand structure and subsequently low amounts of dead or dying trees (Bednarz et al., 2013). The most common application of the method includes inoculating a wooden dowel with a locally obtained fungus, drilling a hole at the site intended for inoculation, and inserting the inoculated dowel into the drilled hole (Lewis, 1998;



Bednarz et al., 2013). The decay column within the trunk of the tree and other hollows created from the rot provide a range of benefits for biodiversity, including the creation of hollows in the trunk and branches of the tree which function as long-term nesting, denning, roosting, and foraging habitat for birds including woodpeckers and other species (Lewis, 1998; Bednarz et al., 2013). Established inoculated trees may continue to spread fungal rot to other neighbouring trees over time, providing a continuous and cost-effective supply of habitat trees, reducing the need to periodically create snags via topping over the course of the harvest rotation (Bednarz et al., 2013). Fungal inoculation can also be done in combination with girdling or topping to speed up wood-decay processes and more closely mimic the resemblance naturally formed habitat trees (Lewis, 1998).



Recommended forest and tree type

It is generally recommended that if the aim is to recruit habitat trees for woodpecker species and cavity nesting birds, mid-aged or older stands (i.e., >40 years) should be selected for inoculation as birds typically choose older trees for nesting and other activities (Bednarz et al., 2013).

Species that benefit

Cavity nesters, woodpeckers, saproxylic species (Lewis, 1998; Brandeis et al., 2002; Huss et al., 2002; Bednarz et al., 2013).



Tips for effectiveness

When selecting the fungus for inoculation, it is important to choose a species for which there is evidence of its ability to cause decay (Bednarz et al., 2013). If the aim is to create habitat for primary cavity nesters, a fungus species which is associated with primary cavity nester sites should be selected. When possible, it is recommended that the fungal cultures used for inoculation should be obtained, isolated, and grown from existing trees infected with the same fungus in the local landscape (Bednarz et al., 2013). In order to prevent the tree from resealing the wound from the drilled hole, it is recommended to insert a cut piece of PVC pipe into the hole (Bednarz et al., 2013).

3.5. Artificial tree uprooting

Description and information

During natural disturbances such as windstorms, trees can be uprooted from the soil and can either fall to the ground, creating lying deadwood, or remain leaning against a neighbouring tree, creating standing deadwood. In both forms, uprooted trees provide a range of benefits to the surrounding forest ecosystem as they diversify deadwood types, provide microhabitats for saproxylic species, cause beneficial re-mixing of the soil, and promote natural regeneration (Cavalli and Mason, 2003; Šamonil et al., 2010; Vítková et al., 2018) . The tip-up mound that forms around the roots of an uprooted tree has also been suggested to recruit particular plant species, create nesting sites for particular bird species, and serve as important moist habitats for amphibian species during droughts (Beatty, 1984; Peterson et al., 1990; Goodburn and Lorimer, 1998). In areas where naturally uprooted trees are scarce, artificial methods for uprooting can be implemented to mimic these beneficial structures in either lying or standing form.

Recommended forest and tree type

Artificially uprooting trees can be done in any forest and to any tree type. Tree species which uproot more commonly as a result of storm damaged include spruce trees.

Species that benefit

The main species that benefit are saproxylic species (Cavalli and Mason, 2003; Vítková et al., 2018).





Tips for effectiveness

Recommended minimum DBH for uprooting is 30 cm (Cavalli and Mason, 2003). To create lying, uprooted trees it is recommended to use a tractor mounted winch or a harvester to either pull or knock down the tree, respectively (Cavalli and Mason, 2003). If the aim is to create standing uprooted trees, it is recommended to first girdle the target tree and then use a tractor mounted winch to uproot the tree against a neighbouring tree so that it can lean against it (Cavalli and Mason, 2003). If the aim is to mimic clearings of uprooted trees that sometimes occur naturally after a windstorm, many trees within an area can be uprooted to face in the same direction.



4. Active restoration to create cavities

4.1. Rationale



Old, large trees with cavities, hollows, and holes are often referred to simply as "habitat trees" because of the irreplaceable habitats they provide for a wide variety of species such as invertebrates, fungi, birds, and mammals (Brainerd et al., 1995; Ranius and Nilsson, 1997; Kosiński, 2006). Many of these species are also often highly specialised or threatened (Bütler et al., 2006). For saproxylic beetles and fungi, the soft decayed material known as wood mould builds up in the hollows and ensures that there is an uninterrupted supply of deadwood (Sebek et al., 2013). For vertebrates, the cavities and hollows provide structures for denning, roosting, and nesting (Remm and Lõhmus, 2011). Much like deadwood, habitat trees are less prevalent in managed forests compared to unmanaged (Remm and Lõhmus, 2011; Courbaud et al., 2021), as trees with rot or other defects that can lower timber quality are often selectively

removed (Goodburn and Lorimer, 1998; Cosyns, et al., 2020). As a result, species which rely on these habitat trees have been affected, reducing forest biodiversity and compromising ecosystem health (Lindenmayer et al., 2012). Without immediate efforts to increase the number of habitat trees, many threatened and endangered cavity dependent species are at high risk or may even become extinct (Manning et al., 2013).

Retention of habitat trees is becoming a more common approach to biodiversity conservation in managed forests (Gustafsson et al., 2012). However, trees accumulate microhabitats as they grow (Courbaud et al., 2021) and cavity development varies in time depending on the species, e.g., pendulate oak, microhabitats such as hollows are most likely to occur in trees over 200 years old (Ranius et al., 2008). Therefore, active management to create artificial habitats that mimic those provided by habitat trees, or triggering processes to create cavities may thus be an effective solution to increase the number of habitat trees more quickly than natural processes (Sebek et al., 2013).



4.2. Pollarding

Description and information

Pollarding is a common historical silviculture practice similar to coppicing, the main difference being that pruning occurs above ground, instead of at the base of the tree. To create a pollard tree, the trunk is typically cut at a height of two meters and as a result regrows long, thin straight stems, traditionally used as firewood (Thomas, 2014). The practice was historically done in agricultural landscapes, as stems were above the reach of grazing animals. Pollarding has been shown to lead to the development of many tree hollows in the stems, and formation is suggested to be faster and more frequent than in trees which are not managed as pollards (Sebek et al., 2013). The large number of cavities provide a wide range of microhabitats, and as result pollard trees typically support a high diversity of saproxylic species, including endangered and specialist species. The cavities also often contain a larger quantity of wood mould than in cavities of unmanaged trees, a substrate important to many saproxylic species (Todarello and Chalmers, 2007; Sebek et al., 2013). Because pollarding does not kill the tree, it is an excellent active management practice to implement in areas where natural tree cavities are scarce. A single pollard tree can potentially provide microhabitats for hundreds of years (Sebek et al., 2013).

Recommended forest and tree type

Pollarding can be done in any forest type but in order to increase the probability that the tree produces hollows, it is recommended to choose trees that have a faster growth rate and are prone to infection, such as willows (Sebek et al., 2013). Beech forests are typically not recommended for pollarding, because as beech trees become older and branches become larger, their regrowth ability deteriorates (Cantero et al., 2014).

Species that benefit

Main species that benefit are saproxylic species including the endangered hermit beetle (*Osmoderma eremita*) and Rosalia longicorn (*Rosalia aplina*) (Sebek et al., 2012; Sebek et al., 2013), various bird species (Cantero et al., 2014).

Tips for effectiveness

Pruning should be done with an axe, rather than a chainsaw, because an axe is more likely to encourage regrowth (Cantero et al., 2014). When pruning, an attempt should be made to maintain straight cuts to avoid water accumulation (Cantero et al., 2014). Pollarding can be applied to both large and small trees, but if the aim is to create cavities as fast as possible, young trees are recommended (Cantero et al., 2014). Creating pollard trees in sunny, open



areas increases the chances that cavities will provide the necessary habitats conditions for endangered and specialist species (Cantero et al., 2014).

4.3. Mechanically carved hollows

Description and information

Mechanically carved hollows are cavities that are cut directly into the trunk of a tree using a chainsaw. The method usually follows a series of steps including cutting a faceplate at a height of around 4 m, making a series of plunge cuts with a chainsaw to create a grid of individual wood pieces that are subsequently hammered out to create a hollow cavity, drilling an entrance hole into the faceplate, and finally reattaching the faceplate over the carved cavity with screws (Gano and Mosher, 1983; Rueegger, 2017). Unlike external nest boxes, the technique creates an internal cavity which is protected from weather extremes from a several centimetre-thick faceplate (Rueegger, 2017).



As a result, mechanically carved hollows have been shown to provide much more stable thermal conditions than traditional nest boxes and most closely resemble natural cavities (Griffiths et al., 2018). They are also durable, long-lasting, and cost-effective in the mid to long term (Rueegger, 2017). If quantities of trees containing natural tree hollows in a managed



forest are low or absent, mechanically carved hollows can provide supplementary habitats for hollow dependent species.

Recommended forest and tree type

For mechanically carved hollows for birds, bats, and other vertebrate species, it is recommended that trees at least 30 cm DBH be selected and residual wall thickness surrounding the decay cavity should be > 0.3 of the stem's diameter in order to reduce the risk of tree failure (Gano and Mosher, 1993; Rueegger, 2017). Trees chosen for hollows should be alive to better ensure that the wood-wound healing processes seal the faceplate to the tree, creating more stable thermal conditions Rueegger, 2017). Tree cavities should be made in well-stocked stands (Gano and Mosher, 1983).

Species that benefit

The main species that benefit are cavity roosting bats, owls such as little owl (*Athene noctua*) and tawny owl (*Strix aluco*), wryneck (*Jynx torquilla*), spotted flycatcher (*Muscicapa striata*), tits including marsh tit (*Parus palustris*), blue tit (*Parus caeruleus*) and great tit (*Parus major*), nuthatch (*Sitta europaea*), and starling (*Sturnus vulgaris*) (Cavalli and Mason, 2003). To support the provision of habitats for honeybees in the wild (*Apis mellifera*), specially designed cavities can be built (see: //freethebees.ch/).

Tips for effectiveness

It is recommended that mechanically carved hollows be done in combination with basal slits (see section 4.4) so that the decay progressing downwards from the cavity and the decay progressing upwards from the basal slits eventually converge to create an entirely hollow tree that better benefits biodiversity (Cavalli and Mason, 2003). The cut faceplate should be several centimetres (at least 4 cm) thick to avoid shrinking and cracking that compromises thermal stability (Rueegger, 2017). The cavity dimensions, size, and location of the entrance hole can be customised to the target species (Cavalli and Mason, 2003). For detailed information regarding mechanically carved hollows for wild bee species see the image below and <u>https://freethebees.ch/</u>.





4.4. Basal slits

Description and information

Basal slits are a series of vertical cuts made to the base the trunk, which stimulates decay that overtime leads to the creation of wet rot at the tree base (Cavalli and Mason, 2003). The method involves making a series of three successional vertical cuts with a chainsaw, followed by horizontal cuts that allow for a plug of the trunk to be removed to promote water accumulation and wet rot (Cavalli and Mason, 2003). These basal cavities do not usually kill the tree (Zapponi et al., 2014) and therefore provide important long-term habitats for cavity roosting bats (Kunz et al., 2003). The basal slits also promote the creation of sap which seeps from the wound, which provides a necessary substrate for specialist saproxylic species (Cavalli and Mason, 2003). As water accumulates in the slits, this also creates habitats for water dependent species (Zapponi et al., 2014).

Recommended forest and tree type

Large trees may provide more stable microclimates for cavity roosting species such as bats (Kunz et al., 2003). Using the method of basal slits on exotic and invasive tree species is a cost-effective method for supporting the development of wet rot, hollows, and ultimately deadwood that then provide a diversity of tree related microhabitats (Zapponi et al., 2014).



Species that benefit

Saproxylic species including the endangered violet click beetle (*Limoniscus violaceus*) (Sebek et al., 2013), water dependent species such as hover flies and drone flies, specialist saproxylic species that rely on sap seepage, and cavity roosting bats (Cavalli and Mason, 2003).

Tips for effectiveness

If the tree is large enough, basal slits should be made in combination with mechanically carved tree hollows (see section 4.3) so that the decay progressing downwards from the hollow meets up with the decay progressing upwards from the basal slit, ultimately creating a hollow trunk that would normally be seen in old trees (Cavalli and Mason, 2003). Choosing trees that have moderate to high levels of sun-exposure may increase the chances of roosting by cavity roosting bats (Kunz et al., 2003).

5. References

- Adelman, W., Hagge, J., Langhammer, P., Höhna, N., Hotes, S., Werneyer, M., Drexler, M., and Müller, J., 2021. Naturschutz mit der Kettensäge. Bayerische Akademie für Naturschutz und Landschaftspflege. Pp 1-64
- Beatty, S.W., 1984. Influence of microtopography and canopy species on spatial patterns of forest understory plants. *Ecology*, *65*(5), pp.1406-1419.
- Bednarz, J.C., Huss, M.J., Benson, T.J. and Varland, D.E., 2013. The efficacy of fungal inoculation of live trees to create wood decay and wildlife-use trees in managed forests of western Washington, USA. Forest ecology and management, 307, pp.186-195.
- Bouget, C., Nusillard, B., Pineau, X. and Ricou, C., 2012. Effect of deadwood position on saproxylic beetles in temperate forests and conservation interest of oak snags. *Insect Conservation and Diversity*, 5(4), pp.264-278.
- Bouget, C., Larrieu, L., Nusillard, B. and Parmain, G., 2013. In search of the best local habitat drivers for saproxylic beetle diversity in temperate deciduous forests. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 22(9), pp.2111-2130.
- Brainerd, S.M., Helldin, J.O., Lindström, E.R., Rolstad, E., Rolstad, J. and Storch, I., 1995. Pine marten (Martes martes) selection of resting and denning sites in Scandinavian managed forests. In Annales Zoologici Fennici (pp. 151-157). Finnish Zoological and Botanical Publishing Board.
- Brandeis, T.J., Newton, M., Filip, G.M. and Cole, E.C., 2002. Cavity-nester habitat development in artificially made Douglas-fir snags. *The Journal of wildlife management*, pp.625-633.



- Brin, A., Bouget, C., Valladares, L. and Brustel, H., 2013. Are stumps important for the conservation of saproxylic beetles in managed forests?—Insights from a comparison of assemblages on logs and stumps in oak-dominated forests and pine plantations. *Insect conservation and diversity*, 6(3), pp.255-264.
- Bull, Evelyn L., Arthur D. Partridge, and Wayne G. Williams. 1981. *Creating snags with explosives*. Vol. 393. US Dept. of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Forest and Range Experiment Station.
- Bull, E.L. and Partridge, A.D., 1986. Methods of killing trees for use by cavity nesters. *Wildlife Society Bulletin* (1973-2006), 14(2), pp.142-146.
- Bull, E.L., 1997. *Trees and logs important to wildlife in the interior Columbia River basin* (Vol. 391). US Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station.
- Bütler, R., Lachat, T. and Schlaepfer, R., 2006. Saproxylische Arten in der Schweiz: ökologisches Potenzial und Hotspots| Saproxylic species in Switzerland: Ecological potential and hotspots. Schweizerische Zeitschrift fur Forstwesen, 157(6), pp.208-216.
- Cantero, A., Passola, G., Aragon, A., Francisco, M. D., Mugarza, V., Riano, P., 2014. Notes on Pollards: Best Practices' Guide For Pollarding, Gipuz koako. Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/environment/life/project/Projects/index.cfm?fuseaction=home.showF ile&rep=file&fil=TRASMOCHOS_Best_practice.pdf
- Cavalli, R. and Mason, F., 2003. Techniques for re-establishment of dead wood for saproxylic fauna conservation. *LIFE Nature project NAT/IT/99/6245 "Bosco della Fontana" (Mantova, Italy). Gianluigi Arcari Editore, Mantova, Italy*.
- Cosyns, H., Joa, B., Mikoleit, R., Krumm, F., Schuck, A., Winkel, G. and Schulz, T., 2020. Resolving the trade-off between production and biodiversity conservation in integrated forest management: comparing tree selection practices of foresters and conservationists. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 29(13), pp.3717-3737.
- Courbaud, B., Larrieu, L., Kozak, D., Kraus, D., Lachat, T., Ladet, S., Müller, J., Paillet, Y., Sagheb-Talebi, K., Schuck, A. and Stillhard, J., 2022. Factors influencing the rate of formation of tree-related microhabitats and implications for biodiversity conservation and forest management. *Journal* of Applied Ecology, 59(2), pp.492-503.
- Djupström, L.B., Weslien, J., ten Hoopen, J. and Schroeder, L.M., 2012. Restoration of habitats for a threatened saproxylic beetle species in a boreal landscape by retaining dead wood on clear-cuts. *Biological Conservation*, 155, pp.44-49.



- Doerfler, I., Cadotte, M.W., Weisser, W.W., Müller, J., Gossner, M.M., Heibl, C., Bässler, C., Thorn, S. and Seibold, S., 2020. Restoration-oriented forest management affects community assembly patterns of deadwood-dependent organisms. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, *57*(12), pp.2429-2440.
- European Commission, 2020. Biodiversity Strategy for 2030 Bringing nature back into our lives. European Commission, Brussels, Belgium, 1-22
- European Commission, 2021. New EU Forestry Strategy for 2030. European Commission, Brussels, Belgium, 1-27.
- European Environmental Agency, 2016. European Forest Ecosystems States and trends. EEA Report No. 5/2016.
- FOREST EUROPE, 2020. State of Europe's Forests 2020.
- Fridman, J. and Walheim, M., 2000. Amount, structure, and dynamics of dead wood on managed forestland in Sweden. *Forest ecology and management*, *131*(1-3), pp.23-36.
- Gano, R.D. and Mosher, J.A., 1983. Artificial cavity construction: an alternative to nest boxes. *Wildlife Society Bulletin (1973-2006), 11*(1), pp.74-76.
- Goodburn, J.M. and Lorimer, C.G., 1998. Cavity trees and coarse woody debris in old-growth and managed northern hardwood forests in Wisconsin and Michigan. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, *28*(3), pp.427-438.
- Griffiths, S.R., Lentini, P.E., Semmens, K., Watson, S.J., Lumsden, L.F. and Robert, K.A., 2018. Chainsawcarved cavities better mimic the thermal properties of natural tree hollows than nest boxes and log hollows. *Forests*, *9*(5), p.235.
- Grove, S.J., 2002. Saproxylic insect ecology and the sustainable management of forests. *Annual review of ecology and systematics*, pp.1-23.
- Gustafsson, L., Baker, S.C., Bauhus, J., Beese, W.J., Brodie, A., Kouki, J., Lindenmayer, D.B., Lõhmus,
 A., Pastur, G.M., Messier, C. and Neyland, M., 2012. Retention forestry to maintain multifunctional forests: a world perspective. *BioScience*, *62*(7), pp.633-645.
- Gustafsson, L., Bauhus, J., Asbeck, T., Augustynczik, A.L.D., Basile, M., Frey, J., Gutzat, F., Hanewinkel,
 M., Helbach, J., Jonker, M. and Knuff, A., 2020. Retention as an integrated biodiversity
 conservation approach for continuous-cover forestry in Europe. *Ambio*, 49(1), pp.85-97.
- Hallett, J.G., Lopez, T., O'Connell, M.A. and Borysewicz, M.A., 2001. Decay dynamics and avian use of artificially created snags. *Northwest science.*, 75(4), pp.378-386.



- Huss, M.J., Bednarz, J.C., Juliano, D.M. and Varland, D.E., 2002. The efficacy of inoculating fungi into conifer trees to promote cavity excavation by woodpeckers in managed forests in western Washington. *Laudenslayer, William F., Jr.; Shea, Patrick J*, pp.2-4.
- Jonsell, M. and Weslien, J., 2003. Felled or standing retained wood—it makes a difference for saproxylic beetles. *Forest Ecology and Management*, *175*(1-3), pp.425-435.
- Jonsell, M., Nittérus, K. and Stighäll, K., 2004. Saproxylic beetles in natural and man-made deciduous high stumps retained for conservation. *Biological conservation*, *118*(2), pp.163-173.
- Jonsson and Siitonen, 2012. Deadwood and sustainable forest management. In Biodiversity and dead wood. Cambridge University Press. 302-337.
- Kilroy, B. and Windell, K., 1999. 'Tree Girdling Tools', USDA Forest Service Technology and Development Program Missoula, Montana, 2600(202), pp. 1–4.
- Kosiński, Z., 2006, January. Factors affecting the occurrence of middle spotted and great spotted woodpeckers in deciduous forests—a case study from Poland. In *Annales Zoologici Fennici*. Finnish Zoological and Botanical Publishing Board. pp. 198-210.
- Kraus, D. and Krumm, F., 2013. Integrative approaches as an opportunity for the conservation of forest biodiversity, In Focus – Managing Forest in Europe. European Forest Institute, 284 p.
- Krishnan, S., Wiederkehr Guerra, G., Bertrand, D., Wertz-Kanounnikoff, S. and Kettle, C.J., 2020. The pollination services of forests: A review of forest and landscape interventions to enhance their cross-sectoral benefits. FAO, Rome.
- Krumm, F., Schuck, A., Rigling, A. (eds), 2020. How to balance forestry and biodiversity conservation
 A view across Europe. European Forest Institute (EFI); Swiss Federal Institute for Forest, Snow and Landscape Research (WSL), Birmendorf. 644 p.
- Kruys, N., Fries, C., Jonsson, B.G., Lämås, T. and Ståhl, G., 1999. Wood-inhabiting cryptogams on dead Norway spruce (Picea abies) trees in managed Swedish boreal forests. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 29(2), pp.178-186.
- Kunz, T.H., Lumsden, L.F. and Fenton, M.B., 2003. Ecology of cavity and foliage roosting bats. *Bat ecology*, *1*, pp.3-89.
- Lachat, T., Bouget, C., Bütler, R. and Müller, J., 2013. Deadwood: quantitative and qualitative requirements for the conservation of saproxylic biodiversity. *Integrative approaches as an opportunity for the conservation of forest biodiversity*, p.92



- Lassauce, A., Paillet, Y., Jactel, H. and Bouget, C., 2011. Deadwood as a surrogate for forest biodiversity: meta-analysis of correlations between deadwood volume and species richness of saproxylic organisms. *Ecological Indicators*, *11*(5), pp.1027-1039.
- Lewis, J.C., 1998. Creating snags and wildlife trees in commercial forest landscapes. *Western Journal* of Applied Forestry, 13(3), pp.97-101
- Lindenmayer, D.B., Laurance, W.F. and Franklin, J.F., 2012. Global decline in large old trees. *Science*, *338*(6112), pp.1305-1306.
- Lindhe, A. and Lindelöw, Å., 2004. Cut high stumps of spruce, birch, aspen and oak as breeding substrates for saproxylic beetles. Forest Ecology and Management, 203(1-3), pp.1-20.
- Manning, A.D., Gibbons, P., Fischer, J., Oliver, D.L. and Lindenmayer, D.B., 2013. Hollow futures? Tree decline, lag effects and hollow-dependent species. *Animal Conservation*, *16*(4), pp.395-403.
- Müller, J. and Bütler, R., 2010. A review of habitat thresholds for dead wood: a baseline for management recommendations in European forests. *European Journal of Forest Research*, *129*(6), pp.981-992
- Muys, B., Angelstam, P., Bauhus, J., Bouriaud, L., Jactel, H., Kraigher, H., Müller, J., Pettorelli, N., Pötzelsberger, E., Primmer, E., Svoboda, M., Thorsen, B.J., Van Meerbeek, K. 2022. Forest Biodiversity in Europe. From Science to Policy 13. European Forest Institute.
- Nordén, B., Ryberg, M., Götmark, F. and Olausson, B., 2004. Relative importance of coarse and fine woody debris for the diversity of wood-inhabiting fungi in temperate broadleaf forests. *Biological conservation*, *117*(1), pp.1-10.
- Paillet, Y., Bergès, L., Hjältén, J., Ódor, P., Avon, C., Bernhardt-Römermann, M., Bijlsma, R.-J., De Bruyn,
 L., Fuhr, M., Grandin, U., Kanka, R., Lundin, L., Luque, S., Magura, T., Matesanz, S., Mészáros,
 I., Sebastià, M.T., Schmidt, W., Standovár, T., Tóthmérész, B., Uotila, A., Valladares, F., Vellak,
 K., Virtanen, R., 2010. Biodiversity differences between managed and unmanaged forests:
 Meta-analysis of species richness in Europe. Conservation biology, 24(1), pp.101-112.
- Parks, C.G., 1999. Woodpecker use and fall rates of snags created by killing ponderosa pine infected with dwarf mistletoe (Vol. 515). US Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station.
- Peterson, C.J., Carson, W.P., McCarthy, B.C. and Pickett, S.T.A., 1990. Microsite variation and soil dynamics within newly created treefall pits and mounds. *Oikos*, pp.39-46.



- Remm, J. and Lõhmus, A., 2011. Tree cavities in forests-the broad distribution pattern of a keystone structure for biodiversity. *Forest Ecology and Management*, *262*(4), pp.579-585.
- Ranius, T. and Nilsson, S.G., 1997. Habitat of Osmoderma eremita Scop.(Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae), a beetle living in hollow trees. *Journal of Insect Conservation*, 1(4), pp.193-204.
- Ranius, T., Niklasson, M. and Berg, N., 2008. Development of tree hollows in pedunculate oak (Quercus robur). *Forest Ecology and management*, *257*(1), pp.303-310.
- Requier, F., Paillet, Y., Laroche, F., Rutschmann, B., Zhang, J., Lombardi, F., Svoboda, M. and Steffan-Dewenter, I., 2020. Contribution of European forests to safeguard wild honeybee populations. *Conservation letters*, *13*(2), p.e12693.
- Rueegger, N., 2017. Artificial tree hollow creation for cavity-using wildlife–Trialling an alternative method to that of nest boxes. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 405, pp.404-412.
- Sabatini, F.M., Burrascano, S., Keeton, W.S., Levers, C., Lindner, M., Pötzschner, F., Verkerk, P.J., Bauhus, J., Buchwald, E., Chaskovsky, O., Debaive, N., 2018. Where are Europe's last primary forests? Diversity and Distributions, 24(10), 1426-1439.
- Šamonil, P., Král, K. and Hort, L., 2010. The role of tree uprooting in soil formation: a critical literature review. Geoderma, 157(3-4), pp.65-79
- Sebek, P., Cizek, L., Hauck, D., Schlaghamersky, J. and Jurc, M., 2012. Saproxylic beetles in an isolated pollard willow stand and their association with Osmoderma barnabita (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae). Saproxylic beetles in Europe: monitoring, biology and conservation. Ljubljana: Studia Forestalia Slovenica, pp.67-72.
- Sebek, P., Altman, J., Platek, M. and Cizek, L., 2013. Is active management the key to the conservation of saproxylic biodiversity? Pollarding promotes the formation of tree hollows. *PLoS One*, *8*(3).
- Siitonen, J., 2001. Forest management, coarse woody debris and saproxylic organisms: Fennoscandian boreal forests as an example. *Ecological bulletins*, pp.11-41.
- Stokland, J.N., Siitonen, J. and Jonsson, B.G., 2012. *Biodiversity in dead wood*. Cambridge University Press.
- Thomas, P., 2014. *Trees: their natural history*. Cambridge University Press.
- Thompson, I., Mackey, B., McNulty, S. and Mosseler, A., 2009. Forest resilience, biodiversity, and climate change. In *Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity, Montreal. Technical Series no. 43. 1-67.* (Vol. 43, pp. 1-67).



- Todarello, P. and Chalmers, A., 2007, February. The characteristics of five species of hollow-bearing trees on the New South Wales Central Coast. In *Proceedings of the Linnean Society of New South Wales* (Vol. 128, p. 1). Linnean Society of New South Wales.
- Vítková, L., Bače, R., Kjučukov, P. and Svoboda, M., 2018. Deadwood management in Central European forests: Key considerations for practical implementation. *Forest Ecology and Management, 429*, pp.394-405.
- Zapponi, L., Minari, E., Longo, L., Toni, I., Mason, F. and Campanaro, A., 2014. The habitat-trees experiment: using exotic tree species as new microhabitats for the native fauna. *iForest-Biogeosciences and Forestry*, 8(4), p.464.



